FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2013 JAN -2 , AM 11: 33

STATE OF MASHINGTON

BY.

NO. 43689-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN WORTHINGTON, Appellant

V.

WEST NET, Respondent

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

JOHN WORTHINGTON 4500 SE 2ND PL RENTON, WA.98059 425-917-2235

ORIGINAL

NO. 43689-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN WORTHINGTON, Appellant

V.

WEST NET, Respondent

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

JOHN WORTHINGTON 4500 SE 2ND PL RENTON, WA.98059 425-917-2235

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error.

The trial court erred in granting the defendant's Motion to dismiss on June 15, 2012, and then erred again in the denial of Worthington's Motion to Reconsider on June 27,, 2012.

Issues Pertaining To Assignments of Error

- A. Whether WEST NET is the "functional equivalent" of a public agency subject to the PRA.
- B. Whether the WEST NET interlocal agreement could exempt WEST NET from the PRA.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of appellant John Worthington's request for public records from the West Sound Narcotics Enforcement Team, (Hereafter "WEST NET") pursuant to the Public Records Act, (Hereafter "PRA"), RCW Chapter 42.56. This is Worthington's second appearance in the Washington State Court of Appeals for Division II, regarding a public records request involving a raid on his residence in January of 2007. In the first case, (Worthington v. Washington State Patrol No. 38697-6-11), the Appellate court for Division II held that WSP had no records of the raid and that the DEA had all the documents of the raid. Years later Worthington received public records showing that the DEA raid was a hoax and that WEST NET conducted the raid and actually sent the file for investigation

number W007-001 to the Washington State Patrol's IAD division for them to forward to the Office of Financial Management to investigate Worthington's tort claims. On February 5, 2010, Worthington followed up on these newly acquired records and attempted to get more records from WEST NET. WEST NET responded to the request but failed to abide fully by the PRA, and did not provide a redaction log. WESNT NET provided some records 19 months later, then refused to honor the PRA.

Records Request —February 5, 2010: Records request for all documents submitted to WEST NET, regarding January 12, 2007 raid on Worthington.

On February 5, 2010, Worthington made the following email request for public records. (CP 15-18) On March 2, 2010, Lt. Kathy Collings responded by letter for Dave White, a WEST NET policy board member, that the documents requested could not be sent pursuant to RCW 10.97.050, but Worthington could view the documents in person at the Kitsap County Sheriff's office. In this response, there was no privilege log provided to Worthington. (CP 19-23)

On March 26, 2010 Worthington went to the Kitsap County Sheriff's office to view the documents, and was presented a stack of papers to view. Worthington requested to copy the documents but was refused permission to do so, and no privilege log had been provided to Worthington. In October of 2010, Worthington became aware of a version of the West Net general report of the raid on his

residence on 1/12/2007. After viewing these documents it became clear that WEST NET had not allowed Worthington to view all of the documents sent to WEST NET. WEST NET also failed to provide a redaction log and remained silent on records they did have.

In late December of 2010, the Washington State Patrol¹ sent Worthington a 226 page West Net General Report, after Worthington had proved that they had the documents sent to them as part of a tort claims investigation by the Office of Financial management. In this 226 page report were NCIS agent Salazar's reports of the raid which were not shown to Worthington on March 26, 2010. From December 2010 to May of 2011, Worthington renewed his efforts to get a complete disclosure of the records of the January 12, 2007 raid on his residence which he requested on February 5, 2010.

On March 6, 2011, Worthington was sent a response to those renewed attempts to obtain full disclosure of the February 5, 2010 public records request. (CP 24-28) This response showed that Worthington was not sent a raid plan, and emails to and from the U.S. Attorney's office, as well as an email from a TNET participating member.

Records Request —On May 23, 2011: Records request submitted to WEST NET, regarding January 12, 2007 raid on Worthington.

¹ In 2008-2009 the WSP claimed they had no records of Worthington's arrest, and that all of the documents were in the possession of the DEA. (See Worthington v. Washington State Patrol Case No. 38697-6-11.

On May 23, 2011, Worthington sent a public records request directly to "WEST NET" administrative assistant Kathy Chittenden, which was responded to by Kathy Collings for Dave White, a WEST NET board member. (CP 33) On July 28 2011, the Defendant sent an email and letter with a privilege log to Worthington indicated they would release 539 pages of documents which should have been released in response to several previous requests, which indicated they previously did not comply with the Washington State public records act. (CP 35) On July 29, 2011, the defendant informed Steve Sarich, in response to his mirror request for records of WEST NET investigation file W07-001, that 748 records would be released to him, which indicated that Worthington did not get all the documents contained in investigation file W007-001. (CP 38) On August 9, 2011, the defendant WEST NET allowed Worthington and Sarich to view the documents in the sheriff's office, but redacted nearly the entire raid/safety plan. (CP 41-48) On August 15, 2011, Worthington challenged a redaction of several pages which relied on RCW 42.56.240 (1), and asked for the documents to be released without redactions. (CP 41) On August 18, 2011, the defendants responded they would not redact the documents identified in the redaction log. (CP 50)

Records Request —On September 12, 2011: Records request submitted to WEST NET, regarding a document which had not been provided to Worthington

On September 12, 2011, Worthington requested a complete copy of an

email that was disclosed on August 9, 2011. (CP 53) WEST NET responded on September 21, 2011, and requested 30-45 days to respond. WEST NET never responded and Worthington had to go to the City of Bonney Lake to get a complete copy of the email he was requesting. It is clear that WEST NET withheld the email, then illegally altered the public record before it was given to Worthington and still has not provided it to Worthington (CP 53-56)

Worthington files a PRA review of an agency action

Worthington timely filed suit against WEST NET on December 8, 2011, alleging WEST NET failed to provide privilege log for Worthington's February 5, 2010 PRA Request, and for failing to provide Worthington with hundreds of PRA documents, while also redacting an entire document. In Worthington's public records dispute with the Kitsap County Superior court, WEST NET filed a motion to dismiss based on the claim WEST NET was immune from suit. Worthington replied to the motion to dismiss and argued WEST NET met the criteria in the Telford factors. On April 23, 2012, the trial court agreed with Worthington and denied WEST NET's motion to dismiss. (CP 86)

WEST NET filed a motion for reconsideration, (CP 114-120) and claimed the WEST NET interlocal agreement had language that prevented WEST NET from being subject to the PRA. On June 15, 2012, the trial court agreed that WEST NET was immune from the PRA, and dismissed Worthington's case. (CP 94-95)

On June 22, 2012, Worthington filed a motion to reconsider, (CP 96-99) which the court denied on June 27, 2012. (CP 100-102) Worthington files this timely appeal of the trial courts orders.

III. ARGUMENT

The Public Records Act "is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." (Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. UW (PAWS II"), 125 Wn.2d 243, 251,884 P.2d 592 (1995) (quoting Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, 580 P.2d 246 (1978)). 'The Act's disclosure provisions must be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed'. PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 251. Courts are to take into account the Act's policy "that free and open examination of public records is in the public interest, even though such examination may cause inconvenience or embarrassment to public officials or others." RCW 42.56.550 (3). This Court's review of the trial court's ruling on summary judgment is de novo. Smith v. Okanogan County, 100 Wn. App. 7, 10, 994 P.2d 857 (2000).

A. Whether WEST NET is the "functional equivalent" of a public agency subject to the PRA.

The four factors used in <u>Telford v. Thurston County Board of</u>

Commissioners, 95 Wn. App. 149, 974 P.2d 886, review denied, 138 Wn.2d 1015

(1999) to evaluate an entity's status under the PRA are (1) the entity's governmental function, (2) the entity's government funding, (3) government

control over the entity, and (4) the entity's origin. Telford, 95 Wn. WEST NET functions as a government entity, and has a policy board which makes decisions on policies enforced state wide. WEST NET also receives state and local funding to conduct its statewide affairs and has a WEST NET bank account with over 1 million dollars in cash and assets. WEST NET is also government controlled by a State Administering Agency (SAA) Washington State Department of Commerce, the host contracting agency the Kitsap County Sheriff, and is supervised by the Washington State Patrol. WEST NET's origin arises from two state laws, RCW39.34, The Interlocal Cooperation Act, and RCW 10.93, The Washington Mutual Aide Peace Officers Powers Act. WEST NET qualifies as a "public agency" subject to the PRA under RCW 42.56.010 (1), because it has a policy board with state participating members, (CP 73-76) and falls under the "catchall provision" of "other local Agency", as shown below:

(1) "Agency" includes all state agencies and all local agencies. "State agency" includes every state office, department, division, bureau, board, commission, or other state agency. "Local agency" includes every county, city, town, municipal corporation, quasi-municipal corporation, or special purpose district, or any office, department, division, bureau, board, commission, or agency thereof, or other local public agency.

As shown above, WEST NET meets all the criteria to be considered the "functional equivalency" of a government agency for the purposes of the

the PRA. The trial court properly ruled the Telford factors applied to WEST NET in the denial of WEST NET's motion to dismiss. (CP 86-87) The trial court then erred by reversing that decision thereby exempting WEST NET from the PRA.

B. Whether the WEST NET interlocal agreement could exempt WEST NET from the PRA.

According to RCW 42.56.030, the Washington State Public Records Act governs all other acts, including the acts, RCW 10.93, and RCW 39.34, which was relied upon by the trial court, in granting WEST NET's motion for reconsideration.

RCW 42.56.030 Construction.

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created. This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected. In the event of conflict between the provisions of this chapter shall govern.

As shown above, it was not possible for the statutes, RCW10.93, and RCW 39.34, to govern the PRA. The trial court erred when it reversed its initial decision that the PRA applied to WEST NET and when it failed to recognize Worthington's references to RCW 42.56.030 in his motion to reconsider. (CP 96-99)

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the aforementioned arguments, WEST NET has been shown to be the functional equivalent of a government agency and should be subject to the PRA. The PRA governs over all other acts, including the two statutes the trial court and WEST NET relied upon to exempt WEST NET from the PRA. The two statutes that created the WEST NET interlocal agreement, RCW10.93, and RCW 39.34, does not authorize a Washington State secret police and does not exempt WEST NET from the PRA.

Worthington respectfully requests that the appellate court reverse the trial courts order dismissing Worthington's PRA complaint, and remand this PRA case back to the trial court with orders to properly apply the PRA to WEST NET.