NO. 43689-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

JOHN WORTHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

WESTNET,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 11-2-02698-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE Prosecuting Attorney

IONE S. GEORGE WSBA No. 18236 Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 614 Division Street, MS-35A Port Orchard, WA 98366-4676 (360) 337-4992

I. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court properly granted WestNET's CR 12(b)(6) Motion for Dismissal for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief can be Granted when Plaintiff's Complaint failed to identify WestNET as an entity that had the capacity to be sued.

2. Whether the trail court properly granted WestNET's CR 12(b)(6) Motion for Dismissal for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief can be Granted because Plaintiff could prove no set of facts, consistent with the Complaint, which could identify WestNET as an entity with the capacity to be sued thereby entitling him to relief.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Worthington filed suit against WestNET, complaining of violation of the Public Records Act, RCW 42.45.550. CP 5-6. WestNET moved for dismissal of the action pursuant to CR 12(b)(6), asserting that Worthington had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted as the Complaint: a) failed to identify WesNET in any capacity; and b) under no set of facts could Worthington identify WestNET as an entity subject to suit as a public agency. CP 106-109; 110-113. After denial of WestNET's motion, and with the court's leave, WestNET filed a Motion for Reconsideration, providing the Court with the Interlocal Drug Task Force Agreement, which set forth the agreement by which several counties and cities had joined efforts to combat enforcement of controlled substance laws (WestNET). CP 114-120; CP _____ (Docket No. 22). The trial court subsequently granted WestNET's motion for reconsideration and Granted WestNET's Motion for Dismissal Pursuant to CR 12(b)(6); an order from which Worthington now appeals.

B. FACTS

. . . .

As outlined above, Worthington filed a Complaint against WestNET which failed to identify WestNET as an entity that had the capacity to be sued. CP 1-10; 106-109; 110-112. Indeed, other than naming WestNET as a defendant, the Complaint did not identify WestNET in any regard; that is, he did not identify WestNET as an individual, business, public corporation or entity.

Pursuant to the terms of the Interlocal Task Force (e.g. WestNET) Agreement (agreement by which multiple city and municipal agencies joined efforts to combat enforcement of controlled substance laws), each

entity joining the task force acted in its individual capacity; NO separate legal entity was intended or created by the Agreement.¹

III. ARGUMENT

A trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted is a question of law which is reviewed de novo. CR 12(b)(6); Cutler v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 124 Wn.2d 749, 755, 881 P.2d 216 (1994). Courts should dismiss a claim under CR 12(b)(6) if it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that no facts exist that would justify recovery. Cutler, 124 Wn.2d at 755; see also Lawson v. State, 107 Wn.2d 444, 448, 730 P.2d 1308 (1986) (action may be dismissed under CR 12(b)(6) only if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, that would entitle him to relief).

//

¹ Specific provisions of the Interlocal Task Force Agreement were set forth in

WestNET's Reply in Support of Motion for Reconsideration (Docket No. 26; CP and the Agreement in it's entirety was attached as Exhibit A to the Declaration of Ione George (Docket No. 22, at p.1; CP _____.)

A. The Trial Court did not err in granting WestNET's CR 12(b)(6) Motion for Dismissal for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief can be Granted because Plaintiff's Complaint failed to identify WestNET as an entity that had the capacity to be sued.

In its CR 12(b)(6) Motion for Dismissal, WestNET pointed out that even when accepting all the factual allegations of the Complaint as true, Worthington had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted because the Complaint did not identify WestNET as an entity that had the capacity to be sued in any regard. Indeed, WesNET was not identified in any manner; as an individual, as a business, public corporation or agency. Because the Complaint was deficient on its face, the court appropriately ruled that Worthington's claims should fail as he had not identified WestNET as an entity that had the capacity to be sued.

B. The trial court properly granted WestNET's CR 12(b)(6) Motion for Dismissal for Failure to State a Claim Upon Which Relief can be Granted because Plaintiff could prove no set of facts, consistent with the Complaint, which could identify WestNET as an entity with the capacity to be sued thereby entitling him to relief.

Not only was Worthington's Complaint deficient on its face, his Complaint also failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted because he could prove no set of facts under which WestNET as either an entity subject to suit (in any regard) or an "agency" subject to suit pursuant to RCW 42.56.550. Worthington's action against WestNET was for alleged violations of the Public Records Act (RCW 42.56.550). RCW 42.45.010 defines an agency that is subject RCW 42.56.550 as:

> "Agency" includes all state agencies and all local agencies. "State agency" includes every state office, department, division, bureau, board, commission, or other state agency. "Local agency" includes every county, city, town, municipal corporation, quasi-municipal corporation, or special purpose district, or any office, department, division, bureau, board, commission, or agency thereof, or other local public agency.

Because the Complaint failed to provide any identification of WestNET as a "local agency" it failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Though he has not made this argument on appeal, Worthington argued to the trial court that it was "clear from the composition of the Board that it [WestNET] is a "corporate entity." CP 69. Worthington then referenced Minutes of the WestNET board's quarterly meeting to establish the "extensive composition of the 'Board,'" and to "demonstrate[e] that WestNET follows all fundamental rules of corporate governance." CP 69. The trial court properly rejected the argument that WestNET is the equivalent of a corporate entity. Per the Interlocal Drug Task Force Agreement it is clear that WestNET is not a corporate entity, and does not follow "fundamental rules of corporate governance." Specifically, the Interlocal Agreement provides:

- The purpose of this agreement is *to provide for and regulate the joint efforts* of the City, County, State and Federal law enforcement to combat violations of controlled substance laws within the contracting jurisdictions for their mutual advantage. (Page 3, Section 2; emphasis added.)
- The parties *do not intend to create* through, this agreement, *a separate legal entity* subject to suit. (Page 3, Section 2; emphasis added.)
- Each jurisdiction shall pay all costs associated with its officers and equipment when assigned to the Task force. (Page 4, Section 3.b.)
- Each contributing agency shall act as an independent contractor and not as an employee of the Task Force or of another party to this agreement. (Page 4, Section 3.c.)
- As such, each party shall not have the authority to bind other parties nor control employees of other parties, contractors or entities. (Page 4, Section 3.c.)
- Pursuant to RCW 10.93.040, *personnel* assigned to the Task Force shall be considered employees of the contributing agency, which shall be solely and exclusively

responsible for that employee. (Page 4, Section 3.d; emphasis added.)

- The Office of the Kitsap County Prosecutor shall, in addition to its normal duties in the prosecution of Kitsap County felony drug violations, represent the Cities, Kitsap County, and the State in real and personal property forfeitures and drug nuisance abatement proceedings initiated by Task Force assigned personnel. (Page 5, Section 3.e.) [Of note, the agreement does not provide for the Task Force (e.g. WestNET) to initiate forfeitures or abatements; nor does it reflect that the Prosecutor's Office would represent the Task Force.]
- Personnel assigned to the Task Force shall conform to their agency's rules and regulations, as well as Task Force policy. All disciplinary matters will be the responsibility of the individual agencies. (Page 5, section 3.f.)

In the alternative, Worthington asserted to both the trial court as well as here that WestNET is an "agency" within the meaning of RCW 42.56. CP 69-71; 89-92. However, by the same consideration as set forth above, WestNET is not a "local agency" any more than it is a "public corporation." It is simply a coordinating agreement that allows a group of law enforcement agencies to collaborate in solving crime. To consider WestNET a local agency, and subject it to suit defies the clear language and intent of the agreement. The Interlocal Agreement provides that all personnel assigned to work with the group remain employees of the contributing agency. Expenses, liability, employment policies, are those of the contributing law enforcement agency, not the Task Force. Who then to pay a lawsuit if the Task Force sued? Who could receive legal service for the Task Force if each person involved is the employee of another entity?

WestNET is simply framework under which independent law enforcement agencies can work together to solve crime. Moreover, as referenced in the Interlocal agreement itself, RCW 10.93.040 provides:

> Any liability or claim for liability which arises out of the exercise or alleged exercise of authority by an officer acting within the course and scope of the officer's duties as a peace officer under this chapter is the responsibility of the primary commissioning agency unless the officer acts under the direction and control of another agency or unless the liability is otherwise allocated under a written agreement between the primary commissioning agency and another agency.

Under this Interlocal Agreement the fact that liability is not allocated to anything but the primary commissioning agency is clearly stated: "Pursuant to RCW 10.93.040, *personnel assigned* to the Task Force *shall be considered employees of the contributing agency*, which shall be solely and exclusively responsible for that employee." Pursuant to RCW 39.34.030, WestNET is simply a statutory means by which independent public agencies (here, law enforcement entities) may jointly "exercise and enjoy" their powers, privileges or authority with other public agencies. RCW 39.34.030, which sets forth the means by which such a cooperative agreement may be effected, specifically contemplates and allows for such joint operations *without the establishment of a separate legal entity.*²

By the terms of the Interlocal Agreement that created WestNET, a separate legal entity was not created. CP _____ (Docket No. 22, Exhibit A, "Interlocal Drug Task Force Agreement, at p.3, Section 2.) All that the Interlocal Agreement accomplished was a means by which several independent law enforcement agencies could perform their duties in cooperation with other law enforcement agencies to enhance their independent efforts.

In arguing that WestNET is a public agency, Worthington's reliance on the "functional equivalent" test of *Telford* ³ is misplaced. *Telford* and its progeny applied a 4-factor test to determine whether a

² "In the event that the agreement does not establish a separate legal entity to conduct the joint or cooperative undertaking, the agreement shall contain, in addition to the provisions specified in subsection (3)(a), (c), (d), (e), and (f) of this section, the following ..." RCW 39.34.030.

³*Telford v. Thurston County Bd. of Comm'rs*, 95 Wn. App. 149, 974 P.2d 886, *review denied*, 138 Wash.2d 1015, 989 P.2d 1143 (1999)

quasi-private/public agency is subject to the PRA.⁴ Accordingly, the *function* of the agency is a critical factor in that test. Clearly when joining efforts to collaboratively exercise police authority, the actors are performing a governmental function; and any one of the collaborative agencies would be subject to the public records act. Here, however, the question to be addressed is not whether the *function* of WestNET is governmental (which it clearly is) but whether it is an "*agency*" subject to the Public Records Act. The test, as set forth in *Telford*, is not established to answer this question.

Moreover, purpose of the Telford test is inapplicable. The four factor test created by the Court in *Telford* was necessary so that requestors of public records could hold the quasi public agency accountable. No such accountability is needed here. Because WestNET is a multi-agency task force, and each agency is subject to the PRA, Plaintiff is not without legal recourse for any alleged improper action taken by any member agency (which retains accountability for its actions per the Interlocal Agreement).

Because WestNET exists as an agreement under the authority of RCW 39.34.030; and because that agreement does not establish WestNET

⁴ See also, *Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Care & Control Shelter*, 144 Wn.App. 185, 181 P.3d 881 (2008).

as a separate legal entity,⁵ Worthington cannot prove any set of facts that would entitle him to relief. ⁶ Accordingly, his claim was properly dismissed as it failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted; Worthington has not and cannot establish that WestNET is an "agency" subject to the public records act.⁷

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Order Granting Defendant's Motion

The written materials submitted by Plaintiff (such as board minutes and account information) exist because of the *opposite* reason Plaintiff offers them. They do not establish WestNET is a public agency; but exist in response to the statutory requirement of a collective agreement that *does not* establish a separate legal entity.

⁷ Though not argued on appeal, the trial court also appropriately rejected Worthington's assertion that WestNET had "waived" the defense that it does not exist as a separate legal entity. Indeed, how could a task force that is not a separate legal entity waive a legal defense? If it does not exist as a legal entity, how could it take legal action? Moreover, his argument regarding waiver was not supported by the facts Worthington offered. While he asserts he made a public records request of "WestNET", the documents Worthington provided reflect that he submitted his request to a Kitsap County Sheriff's Employee (Kathy Chittenden,) and the WestNET member agency "Kitsap County Sheriff's Office" is the entity that responded to his public records request. (See correspondence from Kitsap County Sheriff's Office (KCSO) in response to Plaintiff's public records request as attached to the Declaration of John Worthington as Exhibits A, B, C, D, F and I. CP 26-18; 19-23; 24-28; 29-31; 34-39; and 52-56.

⁵ See, RCW 39.34.030(4).

⁶ Indeed, many of the materials submitted by Worthington in support of his Complaint exist *because* WestNET is not a separate legal entity. Pursuant to RCW 39.34.030(4), Interlocal Agreements that *do not* establish a separate legal entity shall contain additional provisions including:

a) Provision for an administrator or joint board representative administering the joint or cooperative undertaking. In the case of a joint board, public agencies that are party to the agreement shall be represented; and

b) The manner of acquiring, holding and disposing of real and personal property used in the joint or cooperative undertaking. Any joint board is authorized to establish a special fund with the state, county, city, or district treasurer servicing an involved public agency designated "Operating fund ofjoint board,"

for Dismissal with Prejudice should be affirmed.